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Berger Paints Jamaica Limited manufactures and dis-
tributes industrial and decorative paints and paint re-
lated material. It is a subsidiary of  Berger Internation-
al Ltd., itself a subsidiary of the Asian Paints Group, a 
conglomerate which ranks among the top ten decora-
tive coatings companies in the world. 

In November 2002 Asian Paints (India) Ltd., the largest paint 
manufacturer in India, acquired a controlling 51% stake in 
Berger International Limited, the parent company of Berger 
Jamaica. The US $ 1 billion Asian Paints Group, with a pres-
ence in 20 countries, is spread across the Caribbean, the 
Middle East, South Asia, South East Asia and South Pacif-
ic region. It has 30 paint manufacturing facilities worldwide 
which service customers in over 50 countries.

Asian Paints is the only paint company to be ranked amongst 
the ‘200 Best Under a Billion Dollar Companies’ in the world 
for 2005 by The Forbes Global Magazine.

The most notable contribution to Berger’s success has been 
the Company’s on-going commitment to the development 
and manufacture of quality paint products utilizing state of 
the art technology and which are environmentally friendly 
and formulated to withstand harsh tropical conditions.

The company has a reputation for excellence built on an in-
novative product research and development programme 
and the professional delivery of value-added service bench-
marked to international standards.
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Jamaica’s Economy Contracts 
The global economic crisis affected develop-
ing countries mainly through a sharp slow-
down in global activity as a result of a sudden 
drop in investment programs and demand for 
consumer durables. Falling export demand, 
commodity prices, and capital flows worsened 
and extended the downturn. Jamaica was no 
exception, reporting nine consecutive quar-
ters of contraction since October 2007. 

Manufacturing which also recorded eight con-
secutive quarters of decline fell sharply shav-
ing off 4.6% from real GDP in the year 2009. 
With drastic reduction in remittances from 
the main source countries, United States of 
America, Canada, United Kingdom and Cay-
man, the local economy also saw a decline in 
private consumption which accounts for 83% 
of Jamaican GDP.  This single contributor was 
a key factor behind the major fall in the real 
GDP for 2009. 

Among the mechanisms put in place early in 
the new year by the government to shore up 
the economy and reduce interest payments, 
was the Jamaica Debt Exchange (JDX) program 
which resulted in a reduction of interest rates 
on government securities from as high as 28% 
to an average of 12% per annum, saving the 
Government approximately J$40 Billion in in-
terest charges. International Monetary Fund 
intervention was also another significant 
move by the government to strengthen the lo-
cal economy.  

Company Performance
Against the background of a contracting 
global and local economy, I am pleased to 
report that the company was able to deliver 
a good performance to our shareholders.  It 
may be noted that the Company has decided 

Jalaj Dani
Chairman

The year 2009 began on a bleak note.  The 
global economy was impacted by a plethora 
of challenges and some of the largest econo-
mies limped through an unprecedented era 
of severe and rippling economic downturn. 
This resulted in spiraling job losses and nega-
tive growth in key sectors such as construc-
tion, real estate and manufacturing across 
geographies. Governments and Central banks 
in developed as well as some of the emerg-
ing markets reacted swiftly with large stimu-
lus programs which helped revive the global 
economy and reduced fears of a large scale 
depression.

While major emerging markets bounced back 
quickly, even the developed world economies 
have seen a slow rebound from the recession-
ary trend seen last year. However, worldwide 
demand is expected to be weak precipitated 
by the need to rebuild savings and for the 
weaker economies to strengthen their funda-
mental economic framework.  The weakness 
seen in the Euro zone area is also an area of 
concern.

cont’d on page 6
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to change its accounting year from January - 
December to April - March and align it with 
the financial year followed by its ultimate par-
ent company, Asian Paints Limited.  Necessary 
approvals have been obtained to effect this 
change. This performance review is therefore 
based on the 15 month period ended March 
31, 2010 as against the previous 12-month 
period ended December 31, 2008.

Net profit for the 12 month period ended De-
cember 31, 2009 was J$63.841 million (unau-
dited) as against J$15.560 million for the 12 
month period ended December 31st, 2008.  
Net profit for the 15 month period ended 
March 31st, 2010 stood at J$74.099 million.

Future Strategy
During the next financial year, against the 
back drop of the Jamaican economy expected 
to grow in 2010 by a mere 0.5%, economic ac-
tivity is expected to continue to be weak and 
is likely to impact the demand for paint.  

Berger Jamaica will however continue to domi-
nate the local market by introduction of new 
products, increased penetration of its product 
range across the dealer network and increas-
ing export sales.  

The focus on reducing time taken to service 
dealer orders and optimising material cost, 
overheads and capital employed, will con-
tinue.  

Last but not the least, in a tough envi-
ronment, our competent and commit-
ted employees will stand us in good 
stead.  Their contribution to innova-
tion and change is key to competing 
successfully in a challenging market 
place.  Appropriate policies and pro-
cesses and a nurturing environment, 
encourages all to deliver their best.    

I would like to thank you for your 
continued support.  I appreciate the 
hard work and commitment of all 
employees and would like to thank 

my fellow directors on the board for their in-
valuable guidance.  I also thank Berger Inter-
national Limited and Asian Paints Limited for 
the support provided in various areas of the 
Company’s operations and all our customers 
and business associates for their continued 
support.

The earnings per share which was $0.07 for 
2008 has gone up to $0.28 (annualized) for 
the current financial year. 

*15 months ended March 2010 

The Company has taken various steps to 
strengthen its position in the market and op-
timize material cost, overheads and capital 
employed.  This has resulted in an improved 
profit performance and higher return on capi-
tal employed (ROCE). 

Jalaj Dani
Chairman

cont’d from page 5
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Warren McDonald
Regional Managing Director/CEO

Performance
Summary
Amidst the challenges of the  global reces-
sion, some  areas of the local manufacturing 
sector  showed resilience and adapted well to 
local conditions. 

While there was some fallout from the local 
manufacturing sector, during the review pe-
riod, the company rebounded from previous 
periods of low profits and has performed 
creditably, posting net profits of $63.841, mil-
lion for the twelve-month period ended De-
cember 31, 2009 and J$74.099 million at end 
of March 2010, compared to J$15.560 million 
at December 2008. This reflects a significant 
increase of 376.2% over the 12-month period 
ended December 31, 2008.  

Net sales at December 31, 2009 stood at 
$1.536 billion and totalled $1.829 billion at 
March 31, 2010 compared to $1.527 billion at 
December 2008, an increase of 19.8%.  The in-
crease for the 12 month period was due in part 

to growth in export sales volumes and a single 
price increment in March 2009 in response to 
the 11.5% devaluation in the Jamaican dollar 
for the year.

The company is strengthening its position in 
the regional marketplace as export sales vol-
umes grew by 50% when compared to 2008.
Based on market projections of little if any 
growth in the local economy for 2010, our 
company will continue to review our business 
procedures, leverage our resources, enhance 
our sales and marketing techniques and ad-
ministrative systems with a view to curtailing 
costs, increasing our presence in the local and 
international market and further improving our 
efficiencies.

Operating Expenses
We are in the process of reshaping the compa-
ny’s future through structural and procedural 
transformation and as such during the year 
Berger has implemented a number of cost-
cutting measures with a view to reducing our 
operating costs.  We are happy to report that 
the fruits of such process enhancement mea-
sures resulted in a reduction in overall oper-
ating expenses which totalled $1.441 billion 
for the year-end compared to $1.503 billion 
in 2008 a reduction of 4%.  For the 15-month 
period March 2010, operating expenses to-
talled $1.734 billion.   More specifically, the 
reduction in expenses was due to tight cost 
containment controls implemented by man-
agement despite the 10% inflation recorded 
and the 11.5% devaluation of the Jamaican 
dollar  in 2009. 

Shareholder Value
Earnings per share (EPS) were $0.35 compared 
to $0.07 at December 2008; a creditable in-
crease of 28 cents and 400% compared to the 
previous year.  Our book value per share as at 
March year-end was $2.14, an increase of 13% 

cont’d on page 8
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compared to $1.89 at December 31, 2008.  
This increase in value can be attributed to the 
improved profitability as at March 2010.

Assets and Liabilities Performance
The continued improvement in working capi-
tal management and other efficiencies result-
ed in a reduction in assets employed by $173 
million or 18% moving from $980 million for 
the year ended December 31, 2008 to $807 
million as at March 31, 2010. This decrease 
was due to deliberate strategies to improve 
the days in inventory and the days in receiv-
ables.

Our liabilities at year end March 31, 2010 stood 
at $349.137 million, a decline of $227.097 or 
39% over December 2008.  This decrease pri-
marily reflected the reduction in trade pay-
ables arising from the reduced purchasing ac-
tivities in the first quarter of the calendar year 
compared to the last quarter.

Improved Productivity
Our productivity ratio, litres per man hour 
(lmh), showed an improvement of 35% at 
year-to-date December 2009 over December 
2008 as a result of the redeployment of our 
human resources, upgrading of equipment 
and the more efficient use of materials used 
in the production process. In addition, we 
implemented a number of proactive strategies 
to protect the financial health of the com-
pany.  Specifically, during a six-month period, 
the company collaborated with staff to imple-
ment a reduced work week; four days per week 
for general staff, while managers working a full 
week, experienced a salary cut of 20 percent. 
While I have on previous occasions, expressed 
our appreciation to our team members for 
their co-operation on this programme, let me 
use this medium to again say, “thank you” for 
your understanding and commitment demon-
strated through your partnership during that 

Profit before taxation 76,594 21,479 95,416

Net Profit 47,363 15,560 74,099

Earnings per stock Unit $0.22 $0.07 $0.35

period. It is through efforts such 
as these that management expects 
the company to exit the recession a 
stronger, more viable company, bet-
ter able to satisfy the demands of the 
very discerning Jamaican consumer.

Sourcing Savings And  
Reduction Of Waste
The Company realized significant 
sourcing savings over the period re-
sulting from our association with our 
parent company, where we benefited 
from leverage gained by negotiating 
volume discounts at the group level. 

Locally we reduced waste in our pro-
duction processes reducing raw ma-
terials factory level loss (FLL) by 40% 
in 2009 over 2008. 

ISO Quality and  
Environmental Management 
System Certifications
We continue to be certified under 
the ISO 9001:2000 Quality Standard 
as well as under the ISO 14001:2004 
Environmental Standard. Both our 
commitment to quality and our care 
for the environment remain areas of 
emphasis which have become a part 
of our culture at Berger.

cont’d from page 7

2007           2008          2010
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Product Innovation 
As the hub of the Caribbean region for prod-
uct development, we are proud that we con-
tinue to uphold the development of top qual-
ity products as one of the hallmarks of our 
operation.  In 2008 we launched  three new 
products and in 2009 we sought to consoli-
date and build on these new as well as tradi-
tional lines in a shrinking economy.  This is in 
response to market trends and needs as we 
endeavour to always satisfy our customers. 

- A Premium Exterior Emulsion, Weather 
Proof Ultra, which offers a seven year 
warranty. We became the first local paint 
manufacturer to offer a warranted prod-
uct. It has superior algae resistance and 
our warranty which is printed on every can 
speaks volumes about  the durability of 
this product.

-  A Premium Interior Emulsion, Royale Silk, 
which has superior stain resistance and 
scrubbability. This is achieved in spite of 
the product having a lower sheen level 
than other cleanable paints in its class 
and demonstrates our being on the cut-
ting edge of product innovation.

-  Our Exterior Surface Compound is a 
ready-to-use surfacer which seals surface 
imperfections and cracks on wide surfac-
es and provides a smooth solid base for 
paint to be applied, and will stand up to 
the weathering of exterior surfaces.

Safety 
Berger is committed to safety in the workplace 
and has an aggressive safety awareness pro-
gramme. During the year under review we had 
a perfect score with no safety violations or ac-
cident occurring. Safety is one of the areas of 
emphasis driven by our group policy. 

Corporate Governance
As a Company, we firmly believe in the rele-
vance of adhering to sound Corporate Gov-
ernance principles and, during the year, our 
Board met on a quarterly basis to review the 
results of the business activities and give guid-
ance on strategic initiatives and results.  The 
members of the Audit Committee also met 
quarterly.

In accordance with generally accepted corpo-
rate governance standards and the require-

ments of the Jamaica Stock Exchange Listing 
Agreement that the majority of committee 
members should be independent, the com-
mittee comprises only non-executive, inde-
pendent directors. 

The Audit Committee chaired by Hon. Michael 
Fennell, comprises: Mr. Milton Samuda and 
Mr. Pokar Chandiram.  

The Regional Managing Director and the Fi-
nancial Controller/Company Secretary are in-
vited to committee meetings at the discretion 
of the committee.

Risk Management Framework
The company’s principal business activities – 
manufacture and sale of paints & paint related 
products, are by their nature, highly competi-
tive and subject to various risks, including for-
eign exchange risks, credit risks, interest rate 
risk and liquidity risk.

The primary goal of the company’s risk man-
agement are to ensure that the outcomes of 
risk-taking activities are predictable and con-
sistent with group policies and objectives and 
that there is an appropriate balance between 
risk and reward in order to maximise share-
holder returns.

The Board of Directors has overall responsi-
bility for the establishment and oversight of 
the company’s risk management framework.  
To assist in its function the Board has estab-
lished an Audit Committee. 

The Audit Committee met four times during 
the year.  The committee assists the Board in 
fulfilling its responsibilities relating to:

• The integrity of the financial statements 
and any formal announcements relating 
to the company’s performance.

• Overseeing the relationship between the 
company and its external auditors.

• The review of the effectiveness and ad-
equacy of the company’s internal and fi-
nancial controls.

• The review of the external audit plans and 
subsequent findings.

• The review of the effectiveness of the ser-
vices provided by the external auditors 
and other related matters.

cont’d on page 10
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The work of the Audit Commit-
tee is supported by two Inter-
nal Audit departments, as the 
company is audited annually by 
the Internal Audit departments 
of Berger International (the im-
mediate Holding company) and 
Asian Paints Limited (Ultimate 
Holding Company), the results 
of which are reported to the 
Board of Directors and the Audit 
Committee respectively.

Looking Ahead
While global recessionary in-
dicators have shown gradual 
return of global economies 
to growth, the local economy 
continues to suffer adversely, 
and there is no doubt that this 
will continue to have a direct 
impact on our performance in 
the next financial year.  How-
ever, it is our fervent belief that 
with technological advance-
ments, increased focus on 
product development, contin-
ued implementation of cost 

The Future
We at Berger Paints Jamaica are positive that 
the plans which we are implementing should 
certainly put the company on a growth path 
and give greater value to employees, share-
holders and customers. Improvements in our 
product offerings; our commitment to excel-
lent customer service and our well-trained and 
motivated team of managers and employees, 
are indeed pivotal to the achievement of this 
goal. We look forward to the future with opti-
mism and hope that our company will move 
from strength to strength.
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containment measures, and en-
hanced improvement on overall efficiencies, 
we will remain resilient to withstand external 
economic pressures. 

This year has been a challenging year with our 
resolve having been tested along the way.  I 
am confident, however that we will continue 
to rise to the challenges despite what adversi-
ties we may face.  

Acknowledgements
We would personally like to take this oppor-
tunity to acknowledge the contribution of all 
employees over the last financial year and to 
thank all our customers and partners in the 
business. We are appreciative of the confi-
dence that all our stakeholders have placed 
in us and we anticipate the strong and con-
tinued connection that we have with all our 
partners in the upcoming year. 

Warren McDonald
Regional Managing Director/CEO

cont’d from page 9



11

Annual Report 2010

N
OTICE  OF  AN

N
U

AL  GEN
ERAL  M

EETIN
G

BERGER PAINTS JAMAICA LIMITED

Notice of Annual General Meeting         

 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Fifty Eighth Annual General Meeting of Berger Paints Jamaica 
Limited will be held at the Knutsford Court Hotel, 16 Chelsea Avenue or 11 Ruthven, Kingston 10, 
on Thursday, July 01, 2010, at 2:30 p.m. for the following purposes:

1. To receive, consider and, if thought fit, approve and adopt the report of the Directors 
and Financial Statements for the 15 months ended 31st March, 2010, and the report 
of the Auditors on the thereon.

2. To re-elect the retiring Directors and to fix the remuneration of the Directors.

 The Directors retiring by rotation pursuant to article 97 of the Company’s Articles of 
Incorporation are Mr. Pokar Chandiram and Mr. Milton Samuda, being eligible, offer 
themselves for re-election.

 The recommendations of the Directors, as to the election of Directors, are contained 
in the Report of the Directors.

 To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolutions:

(a) BE IT RESOLVED THAT retiring Director Mr. Pokar Chandiram be and is hereby 
re-elected as a Director of the Company.

(b) BE IT RESOLVED THAT retiring Director Mr. Milton Samuda be and is                   
     hereby re-elected as a Director of the Company.

3. To re-appoint the Auditors Deloitte and Touche, and authorise the Directors to fix 
their remuneration for the ensuing year.

4. To consider and, if thought fit, declare a final dividend.

   

                 BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

     ______________________

             Huron Gordon
                             Secretary            

  Dated this  27th  day of April, 2010

REGISTERED OFFICE
256 Spanish Town Road
Kingston 11

NOTES:  

1. A member entitled to attend and vote at a General Meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his 
stead.  A proxy need not be a member of the Company.  A suitable  form of proxy is enclosed.   It must be lodged 
at the Company’s registered office at least forty-eight hours before  the  time  appointed  for  holding  the  meeting.  
The proxy form shall bear stamp duty of $100.00 before  being  signed.  The stamp duty may be paid by adhesive 

stamp(s) to be cancelled  by the persons executing the proxy.

2. Pursuant to Article 74, a Corporate  shareholder (member) may by resolution of its Directors’ appoint a person (not 
a proxy) to attend and vote at the meeting.

                 BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

     ______________________

             Huron Gordon
                             Secretary            
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BERGER PAINTS JAMAICA LIMITED

Directors’ Report                    

Consequent on a decision to change the accounting year end to March 31, 2010 to 
coincide with that of Berger Paints Jamaica’s parent company, Asian Paints Limited, the 
Directors are pleased to present their report and audited statements of accounts for 
the 15 months ended 31st March, 2010.
    
  March 31, 2010
1.  Financial Results $’000

 Unappropriated Profits at January 1, 2009 220,239                        

  Interim Dividend (20,361)

   199,878

 Profit Before Taxation   95,416

 Taxation (21,317)

 Profit After Taxation         74,099 

 Unappropriated Profits at March 31, 2010 273,977
      ========
 Earnings per Stock Unit  35  Cents               

2. Directors:
 In Accordance with Article 97 of the Articles of Incorporation; Messrs. M. Samuda 

and P. Chandiram retire by rotation, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.     

  
3. Auditors
 The Auditors, Deloitte & Touche, have signified their willingness to continue in 

office.  Their re-appointment will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

4. Employees
 Your Directors wish to thank the management and staff of the company for their 

performance  during the 15 months period under review.

5. Customers
 Your Directors wish to thank our valued customers, for their support and 

contribution to the company’s performance during the 15 months period under 
review, and look forward to their continued support of  the Berger brand of 
quality.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

    __________________________   
Huron Gordon

Secretary

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

    __________________________   
Huron Gordon

Secretary
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JALAJ DANI

B.Sc. (Chemical Eng.); M.Sc. (Chemical Eng.)

He has been Chairman of Berger International 
since 2005 and manages the international 
operations of Asian Paints Limited – spanning 
across twenty countries. He sits on the Boards 
of several international subsidiaries of Asian 
Paints Limited and other Indian companies. 
He is a member of the management council of 
the International Business Unit of Asian Paints, 
the ultimate parent company of Berger Paints 
Jamaica Ltd. He has been  Chariman of the 
Board  since 2002.

WARREN McDONALD
F.C.A., B.Sc. (Hons.) Economics, J.P.

He has been the company’s CEO/Managing 
Director since 1993, and in 2006, was appointed 
Regional Managing Director supervising Berger 
subsidiaries in Trinidad and Barbados. He worked 
as Senior Auditor with PriceWaterHouseCopers 
and with the ICD group. He joined Berger Paints as 
Financial Controller in 1981. He is a Vice President 
of the Jamaica Chamber of Commerce and serves 
on several Boards, including the Bank of Nova 
Scotia (Jamaica) Limited, and is Chairman of the 
Portmore Community College. He is a member 
of the Management Council of the International 
Business Unit of Asian Paints Limited.

POKAR CHANDIRAM
 B.Sc. (Business Administration), C.D., J.P.

He has been Managing Director of K. Chandiram 
Limited since 1979, and is a Director of several 
Boards in Jamaica, including Berger Paints 
Jamaica Limited since 1994. He was awarded 
the Prime Minister’s Medal for community work 
in 1993.  

Chairman

Regional Managing
Director/CEO

Director



15

Annual Report 2010

BOARD
  OF  D

IRECTORS
HON. MICHAEL FENNELL
O.J.

Mr. Fennell, Management Consultant, serves on 
many Boards across Jamaica and is himself a 
past Managing Director of Berger Paints Jamaica 
Limited. He is currently the President of the 
Commonwealth Games Federation as well as 
the Jamaica Olympic Association. He has been 
a Board member since 1983.

GOKUL MANJESHWAR
M.Com.(Commerce);M.M.S.(Management Studies)

Mr. Manjeshwar has been with Asian Paints 
Limited for twenty years and is presently the 
Financial Controller.  He has wide experience 
in finance, accounting, taxation, internal 
audit and cost control. He is a member of 
the Management Council of the International 
Business Unit of Asian paints. He has been a 
Board member since 2004.

MILTON SAMUDA
LLB. (Hons.)

Mr. Samuda is an Attorney-At-Law and a partner 
at Samuda & Johnson. He serves on several 
Boards and is the Chairman of Television Jamaica 
Limited, President of the Jamaica Chamber of 
Commerce and a Commissioner on the Anti-
dumping and Subsidiaries Commission. He has 
been a Board member since 2004.

Director

Director

Director
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From left to right:

WARREN MCDONALD
Regional Managing Director/CEO
He has been the company’s CEO/Managing Director 
since 1993 and in 2006 was appointed Regional Manag-
ing Director supervising Berger subsidiaries in Trinidad 
and Barbados. A Fellow of the Chartered Association 
of Certified Accountants and Fellow of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of Jamaica. Mr. McDonald is a 
Hons. graduate in Economics from the University of 
the West Indies and has successfully completed senior 
management programs at Harvard Graduate School of 
Business Administration and Columbia University in the 
USA and Cranfield School of Management in the United 
Kingdom.

ARNOLD BLOOMFIELD
Operations Manager
Arnold Bloomfield joined the company in 1995 and has  
diverse experience in the manufacturing sector. He has 
been the Plant Engineer at Seprod and Factory Manag-
er at Master Blends Feeds. He has a B.Sc. (Mechanical 
Engineer) from the University of the West Indies.

GLADYS MILLER
Regional Technical Manager
Gladys Miller joined Berger Paints as Senior Laboratory 
Technician at Berger Paints in 1986. She has subse-
quently held the position of Supervisor, Research and 
Development and was appointed Chief Chemist/Tech-
nical Manager  in 1991.  In 2009 she was appointed the 
Regional Technical Manager for the Caribbean.  She has 
a B.Sc. in Chemistry  and a post-graduate Diploma in 
Management Studies from UWI. 

NEWTON ABRAHAMS
Sales Manager
Newton Abrahams  joined the company in 2001 with 
wide ranging professional experience at various organi-
zations. He was the Sales Manager at Sports Develop-
ment Agency; the Marketing Manager at Sherwin Wil-
liams West Indies Limited  and the General Manager of 
Petroleum Corporation of Jamaica. He has a B.Sc. from 
the University of the West Indies as well as an M.B.A. 
from Barry University.

HURON GORDON
Financial Controller/Company Secretary
Huron Gordon joined Berger in 2005 having worked 
at Deloitte and Touche as a Senior Auditor and Power 
Tractors Limited as Chief Accountant.  After a stint as 
Berger Paints Chief Accountant he was promoted to Fi-
nancial Controller and Company Secretary in 2008.
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Board of Directors
Jalaj Dani

Warren McDonald

Pokar Chandiram, C.D.

Michael Fennell, O.J.

Gokul Manjeshwar

Milton Samuda

Company Secretary
Huron Gordon

Auditors
Deloitte & Touche
7 West Avenue, Kingston 4

Bankers
Bank of Nova Scotia Jamaica Limited
Citibank N.A.
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EIGHT TIMES SALES REPRESENTATIVE OF THE YEAR: Mr. 
Ambie Myers (second left) Sales Representative for the Year 2009 
accepts the coveted trophy from Mr. McDonald at the awards 
ceremony held at the Hotel Four Seasons. Mr. Myers has ce-
mented the record for the most wins.  Sharing in the moment are 
Mr. Audley Brandt, Sales Supervisor, Rural Territory (left) and Mr. 
Newton Abrahams, Sales Manager.

STAFF RECOGNITION:   Each year staff members are recog-
nized for their contribution and commitment to the company. 
Here employees who have been honored for 10 years of service, 
proudly display their Ten Year Club Certificate. The moment is 
shared with Mr. Rajeev Goel, (left) Chief Manager of Technology 
of the Asian Paints International Business Unit and Mr. Warren 
McDonald, (right) Regional Managing Director – Berger Caribbe-
an. Showing off their certificates are (l-r): Mr. Homer Hynes; Miss 
Narda Nicholson; Mr. Marlon Stanford; Miss Jacqueline Scott; 
and Mr. Patrick Lawson. 

ROLL OF HONOUR:  Mrs. Lorraine Judith Spencer-Jarrett, re-
cipient of the 2009 Berger-sponsored JTA Roll of Honour Award, 
shares a crowning moment of her professional career with (l-r): 
Professor Hon. Errol Morrison, President, University of Technol-
ogy; Mr. Warren McDonald, Regional Managing Director – Carib-
bean and CEO, Berger Jamaica; and Mr. Michael Stewart, Presi-
dent, Jamaica Teachers’ Association. The event was held at the 
Hilton Hotel.

Education - Over the years the company has 
adopted the Riverton Early Childhood and the 
Callaloo Mews Early Childhood Centres, which 
has 200 students, aged 3 - 6 years.  The com-
pany co-sponsors with GraceKennedy Limited a 
Nutritional Support Programme through which 
lunches are provided for the children.  Naturally 
the walls of the schools have been kept brightly 
painted by Berger’s colours.  

The island’s teachers have also benefitted from 
Berger’s corporate outreach. It is the main 
sponsor for the last sixteen years, of  the  Jamai-
ca Teachers’ Association (JTA) Roll of Honour 
award, the highest honour given to a teacher 
by the JTA.   The Governor General is the Patron 
of this prestigious annual event which is held in 
November. The award is presented to a teacher 
who has given outstanding dedicated service to 
the profession.
Berger Paints Jamaica has also provided a 
scholarship to an outstanding student pursuing 
the Masters of Architecture at the University of 
Technology, since 1999. The two-year scholar-
ship is offered to a final year student at the uni-
versity and this year’s recipent was Ms. Maxine 
Fisher Casserly.

cont’d on page 20

Berger Paints has a strong tradition of cor-
porate social responsibility and has con-
sistently  made its contribution to Jamai-
ca’s growth and development, particularly 
through sports and education.  

ARCHITECTURAL SCHOLARSHIP: Recipient of the Berger 
Paints’ Masters of Architecture scholarship 2009/2010, Ms. Max-
ine Fisher Casserly (second left) on the occasion of the official 
presentation of the award. Others (l-r) are: Mr. L. Mark Taylor, 
Head of School, Caribbean School of Architecture, UTech; Mr. 
Warren McDonald, and Professor Errol Morrison, President of 
Utech.
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Sports - The Company is the sponsor of the 
Berger Super Netball League, the premier and 
most prestigious league of all the Jamaica Net-
ball Association (JNA)-managed competitions.  
Berger has been a sponsor of the League for 
over 20 years.  The League continues to provide 
the national teams with players.  The Company 
continues to be one of the longest serving spon-
sors of the Gibson Relays which has produced 
many top Jamaican athletes.

BRIGHT AND BEAUTIFUL: Participants in the Jamaica Cultural De-
velopment Commission’s Festival of Dance, receive the winning tro-
phy from Dionne King, Berger Jamaica’s Marketing Assistant. Berger 
is one of the longest serving sponsors of the Festival of Dance.

BERGER SUPER LEAGUE WINNERS: Members of the JAMAL-
CO team here celebrate their win in the Berger Super Netball 
League competition. The final match in the Best of Three finals 
took place at the Leila Robinson Netball courts last May.   Enjoy-
ing the moment are Mr. Warren McDonald, (left) and  Mr. Newton 
Abrahams, Sales Manager Berger (right) and Mrs. Marva Bernard 
President, Jamaica Netball Association (centre).

RIVERTON CHRISTMAS TREAT:  Students at the Riverton 
Early Childhood Centre enjoy the company of Mr. Warren Mc-
Donald (left) and their Principal, Mr. Junior Rowe at Berger’s An-
nual Christmas treat.  

Students from Central Branch All-Age school, winners of the 4 
x 200 All-Age Junior High Boys race, receive their medals from 
Dionne King at the Gibson Relays in February at the National 
Stadium. Berger Paints is one of the longest serving sponsor of 
the relays.

Ms. Nicole Simmons, of the Jamaica Orchid Society (left), receives 
the Berger “Best White Orchid”  Trophy from Berger Paints Dionne 
King, on  behalf of Mr. Brian Lam, the proud owner of the winning 
orchid, at the March 2009 Jamaica Orchid Society’s Spring Show.

The Orchid Show - The Company has been 
associated with the sponsorship of the Jamai-
ca Orchid Society’s Annual Spring Show for 
21 consecutive years, under the banner of the 
Nature’s Whites line of environmentally friendly 
decorative paints. Each year the Company pres-
ents the Berger trophy for ‘Best White Orchid’.  
The name “White Orchid” is synonymous with 
the name of one of Berger’s six Nature’s Whites 
colours “Orchid White”.

Festival Celebrations - Berger has endorsed 
Jamaican culture for many years through its as-
siocation with all the Jamaica Cultural Develop-
ment Commission’s (JCDC) annual festival cel-
ebrations.  Since the inception of JCDC, over 
45 years ago, Berger has sponsored the most 
popular category of the performing arts, dance, 
making it JCDC’s longest seving sponsor.
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Coloured by Berger Paints

Buildings painted in Berger 
colours from (l-r) are:
1.  University of the West 

Indies Bookshop, 
Kingston

2. Blue Diamond Shopping 
Centre, Montego Bay

3. Two spectacular views of 
the Sunset Beach Resort 
and Spa.
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BERGER PAINTS JAMAICA LIMITED 
 

INCOME STATEMENT 
 

FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2010 
 
 

 
 
  15 months ended 12 months ended 
  March 31, 2010 
 

December 31, 2008 
$’000 Notes $’000 

    
Sales (net of discounts and rebates) 18 1,829,255 1,527,014 
    
Operating profit 19 100,540 29,106 
    
Investment revenues 20 728 292 
    
Finance costs   20 (     5,852 ()        7,919
 

) 
   

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 20 95,416 21,479 
    
Taxation  21 (      21,317 ()        5,919
 

) 
   

NET PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD        74,099      15,560 
    
Earnings per stock unit 22     35¢    7¢ 
 
 
 
 
The Notes on Pages 30 to 63 form an integral part of the Financial Statements. 
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BERGER PAINTS JAMAICA LIMITED 
 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 

FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2010 
 
 

 
 
  15 months ended 12 months ended 
  March 31, 2010 
 

December 31, 2008 
$’000 Notes $’000 

    
NET PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD  74,099 15,560 
    
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME    
    
Deferred tax adjustment on revaluation of property,     
  plant and equipment 14      200 
 

     200 
   

Other comprehensive income for period (Net of tax)       200 
 

     200 
   

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD  74,299 15,760 
 
 
 
The Notes on Pages 30 to 63 form an integral part of the Financial Statements. 
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BERGER PAINTS JAMAICA LIMITED 
 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 
FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2010 
 

 15 months ended 12 months ended 
 March 31, 2010 
 

December 31, 2008 
$’000 $’000 

   
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   
Net  profit for the period 74,099 15,560 
   
Adjustments for:   

Depreciation 38,968 27,626 
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment (    2,263) (  4,130) 
Unrealised foreign exchange (gains) losses net  (    2,785) 4,102 
Post retirement benefit charge  12,013 14,875 
Income tax expense 21,317 5,919 
Interest income (       728) (     292) 
Interest expense 5,852 7,919 
Provision charge 12,751 4,996 
Impairment loss recognized on trade receivables 15,463 23,045 
Impairment loss recognized on other receivables 660 714 
Reversal of impairment loss on trade receivables (    4,860) (  3,870) 
Reversal of impairment for other receivables -        (     522) 
Write-off of trade receivables (  12,194  )      -     

 
  

  
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital: 158,293 95,942 
   
Decrease in trade and other receivables 91,410 16,914 
Decrease (Increase) in inventories 127,060 (39,080) 
Decrease (Increase) in due from fellow subsidiary companies 3,965 (  3,646) 
Provisions utilized (  19,173) (  3,096) 
Increase in trade and other payables (185,543) 17,859 
(Decrease) Increase in due to immediate parent company (  16,856) 9,071 
Post employment benefits contributions (  15,635 () 12,143
 

) 
  

Cash generated from operations 143,521 81,821 
Income tax paid (    4,358) (27,148) 
Interest paid (    5,852 ()   7,919
 

) 
  

Net cash provided by operating activities 133,311 
 

46,754 
  

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES   
Interest received 728 292 
Long-term receivables 3,587 (  1,148) 
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (  10,907) (49,020) 
Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment     5,323 
 

  4,131 
  

Net cash used in investing activities (    1,269 () 45,745
 

) 
  

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   
Dividends paid (  19,238 () 43,448
 

) 
  

Net cash used in financing activities (  19,238 () 43,448
 

) 
  

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 112,804 (42,439) 
   
OPENING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (  20,200) 21,184 
   
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes      2,473  
 

  1,055 
  

CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS   95,077 (20,200) 
   
Comprising:   

Cash and bank balances 95,077 26,591 
Bank overdraft        -      (  46,791

 
) 

  
   95,077 (20,200) 

 
The Notes on Pages 30 to 63 form an integral part of the Financial Statements. 
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BERGER PAINTS JAMAICA LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2010 
 

 

 
1. IDENTIFICATION 
 

The main activity of the company, which is incorporated in Jamaica, is the manufacture and distribution of industrial and 
decorative paints and paint-related processed materials. 
 
The c ompany, which i s l isted on the J amaica S tock E xchange, is a 51% s ubsidiary of  Lew is B erger (Overseas 
Holdings) Limited, which is incorporated in the United Kingdom.  The ultimate holding company is Asian Paints (India) 
Limited, which is incorporated in India.  The registered office of the company is 256 Spanish Town Road, Kingston 11. 
 
In order to coincide with the reporting date of  the ul timate holding company, the accounting year was changed f rom 
December 31, to March 31.  A ccordingly, these financial statements cover the period, f ifteen months from January 1, 
2009 to March 31, 2010. 
 
These financial statements are expressed in Jamaican dollars. 

 
2.  ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 

 
Standards and Disclosures affecting amounts reported  in the current period (and/or prior periods) 
 
The following revised Standards have been adopted in the current period and have affected the presentation in these 
financial statements.  

 

 
Standards affecting presentation and disclosure 

IAS 1 (as revised in 2007) Presentation  
  of Financial Statements  
 

IAS 1 (2007) has introduced terminology changes (including revised 
titles for the financial statements) and c hanges i n t he f ormat and 
content of  t he f inancial s tatements. These changes include the 
presentation of a Statement of Comprehensive Income (See Page 27). 
 

IFRS 8 Operating Segments The Standard’s core principle is that an entity whose debt or equity 
instruments are publicly traded should disclose information about its 
reportable segments, to enable users of its financial statements to 
evaluate the nature and financial effects of the types of business 
activities in which it engages and the economic environments in which it 
operates.  See N ote 18,  S ales ( Net of  D iscounts and R ebates) f or 
additional disclosures arising from the adoption of this Standard. 
 

 

There were no Standards or Interpretations that were adopted during the year that affected the company’s reported 
results or financial position. 

Standards and Interpretations affecting the reported results or financial position 

 
Standards and Interpretations adopted with no effect on financial statements 

 
The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have also been adopted in these financial statements. 
Their adoption has  not  had any  impact on t he amounts reported in these f inancial s tatements but  may impact the 
accounting for future transactions or arrangements. 
 
 Effective for annual periods 

 
beginning on or after 

 
Amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment - Vesting Conditions and  
  Cancellations  

 
January 1, 2009 

Amendment to IFRS 7: Enhancing Disclosures about Fair Value and  
  Liquidity risk (Note 2(a)) 

 
January 1, 2009 
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BERGER PAINTS JAMAICA LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2010 
 

 

 
 
2.  ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d) 
 

Standards and Interpretations adopted with no effect on financial statements (Cont’d) 
 

 Effective for annual periods 

 
beginning on or after 

 
IAS 23 (as revised in 2007) Borrowing Costs  (Note 2(b)) 
 

January 1, 2009 

Amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and IAS 1 
   Presentation of Financial Statements – Puttable Financial Instruments  
   and Obligations Arising on Liquidation 
 

 
 
January 1, 2009 

Embedded Derivatives (Amendments to IFRIC 9 and IAS 39) 
 

(i) 

Improvements to IFRS (2008) (ii) 
  
IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes 
 

July 1, 2008 

IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate  January 1, 2009 
  
IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation  
 

October 1, 2008 

IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers  (iii) 
  
Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial 
  Reporting Standards and IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial  
  Statements – Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled  
  Entity or Associate  

 
 
 
January 1, 2009 

 
(i) effective for annual period ending on or after June 30, 2009. 
(ii) the majority of these amendments are effective from January 1, 2009. 
(iii) effective transfers received on or after July 1, 2009. 
 
(a) The amendments expand the disclosures r equired i n r espect of  fair v alue m easurements r ecognised i n t he 

balance sheet. For the purpose of these expanded disclosures, a three-level hierarchy has been introduced for 
financial instruments recognised at fair value in the financial statements.  The company does not hold financial 
instruments that are subsequently measured at fair value, as such the adoption of this amendment has no effect 
on the amounts reported. 

 
 (b)  The principal change to the Standard was to el iminate the opt ion to expense al l borrowing costs when incurred. 

This change has had no impact on these financial statements as no such borrowings occurred during the year. 
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BERGER PAINTS JAMAICA LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2010 
 

 

2  ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d) 
 

Standards and interpretations in issue not yet effective 
 

At the date of authorization of these financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations were in issue but 
not effective for the financial period being reported on: 
 

  
 

Effective for annual 
periods 

beginning on or after 
 New Standard  

IFRS 9  Financial Instruments  - Classification and Measurement January 1, 2013 
   

 Revised Standards  
IAS 1, 7, 17, 36, 39, ) 
IFRS 5 and 8 (Revised)) 

Amendments arising from April 2009 Annual Improvements 
to IFRS 

 
January 1, 2010 

IAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures – Revised definition of related 
parties 

 
January 1, 2011 

IAS 27, 28 and 31 (Revised) Consequential amendments arising from amendments to 
IFRS 3 

 
July 1, 2009 

IAS 32 Financial Instruments: - Amendment relating to  
  classification of rights issue 

 
February 1, 2010 

IAS 38 (Revised) Intangible assets – Amendments arising from April 2009 
Annual Improvements to IFRS 

 
July 1, 2009 

IAS 39 (Revised) Eligible Hedged Items July 1, 2009 
IAS 39 (Revised) Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement – 

Amendments for embedded derivatives when reclassifying 
financial instruments  

 
 
June 30, 2009 

IFRS 1 (Revised) First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting 
Standards – Amendment relating to oil and gas assets and 
determining whether an arrangement contains a lease 

 
 
January 1, 2010 

IFRS 2 (Revised) Share-based Payment:   
-   Amendment relating to group cash-settled share-based 

payment  transactions 
- Amendments arising from April 2009 Annual 

Improvements to IFRS 

 
 
January 1, 2010 
 
July 1, 2009 

IFRS 3 (Revised) Business C ombinations – Comprehensive r evision on 
applying the acquisition method 

 
July 1, 2009 

IFRS 5 (Revised) Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations – Amendments resulting from May 2008 and 
April 2009 Annual Improvements to IFRS 

 
 
January 1, 2010 

   
 New and Revised Interpretations 

IFRIC 9 (Revised)  Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives – Amendments 
arising from April 2009 Annual Improvements to IFRS  

 
July 1, 2009 

IFRIC 16 (Revised) Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation – 
Amendments arising from April 2009 Annual Improvements 
to IFRS 

 
 
July 1, 2009 

IFRIC 17 Distribution of Non Cash Assets to Owners July 1, 2009 
IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments July 1, 2010 

 
 

 
 

 
 



Page 33 
 
 

BERGER PAINTS JAMAICA LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2010 
 

 

2  ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d) 
 

Standards and interpretations in issue not yet effective (Cont’d) 
 

The B oard of  D irectors and m anagement hav e as sessed t he i mpact of  al l t he new  and r evised S tandards and 
Interpretations in issue not yet effective and have concluded that the following are relevant to the operations of the 
company: 

New and Revised Standards and Interpretations in issue not yet effective that are relevant 

 
• Amendments specifically to IAS 1, 7, 17, 36 and 39, resulting from the April 2009 A nnual Improvements to IFRS 

are not  ex pected t o hav e any  s ignificant i mpact on the company’s f inancial s tatements on adopt ion at  t heir 
respective effective dates. 

 
• IAS 24 (Revised 2009) Related Party Disclosures – Amendment to IAS 24 allows for a partial exemption from the 

disclosures requirements for transactions between a government – controlled reporting entity and that government 
or entities controlled by that government.  The revision also resulted in an amendment to the definition of related 
party.  On adoption at its effective date, the revised standard is not expected to have any impact on the company’s 
financial statements. 

 
• IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement – IFRS 9 i ntroduces new  r equirements f or 

classifying and measuring financial assets.  On adoption at its effective date, the standard is not expected to have 
a significant impact on the company’s financial statements. 
 

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

Statement of compliance 
 
The company’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance and c omply with International F inancial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the relevant requirements of the Companies Act, 2004 of Jamaica.   
 
Basis of preparation 
 
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis.  Historical cost is generally based on the 
fair value of the consideration given in exchange for assets.   
 
The principal accounting policies are set out below: 
 
Property, plant and equipment 
 
All property, plant and equipment held for use in the production or  supply of  goods or  services, or  for administrative 
purposes, are stated in the balance sheet at historical or deemed cost, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation 
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses.  No depreciation is provided on freehold land. 
 
Properties in the course of construction for production, rental or administrative purposes, or for purposes not yet 
determined, are carried at cost including professional fees, less any recognized impairment loss.  Depreciation of these 
assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use. 
 
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets other than land and properties under construction, over the 
estimated us eful l ives, us ing t he s traight-line m ethod.  The es timated us eful l ives, r esidual values and depr eciation 
methods are reviewed at each year end, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a pr ospective 
basis. 
   
The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the 
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss. 
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BERGER PAINTS JAMAICA LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2010 
 

 

 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 

 
Impairment of tangible and intangible assets 
 
At eac h bal ance s heet dat e, t he c ompany r eviews t he c arrying am ounts of its tangible and intangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an i mpairment loss. I f any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). 
Where i t i s not  p ossible t o es timate t he r ecoverable am ount of  an i ndividual as set, t he c ompany es timates t he 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.  Where a reasonable and consistent basis 
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they 
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can 
be identified. 
 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful l ives and i ntangible assets not  yet available for use are tested for impairment 
annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. 
 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are di scounted t o t heir pr esent value us ing a pr e-tax di scount r ate t hat r eflects c urrent 
market assessments of the t ime value of  money and t he r isks specific to the asset for which the estimates of  future 
cash flows have not been adjusted. 
 
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be l ess than the carrying amount, the 
carrying am ount of  t he as set ( cash-generating uni t) i s r educed t o its recoverable amount. An i mpairment l oss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.  
 
When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased 
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not  exceed t he 
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

 
Long-term receivables 
 
These recoverable consumption taxes are shown at nominal values.  
 
Employee benefits 
 

The c ompany oper ates a def ined benef it pens ion pl an.  The plan is funded by  c ontributions f rom em ployees and 
employer.  The em ployees c ontribute at  t he r ate of  5% of  pens ionable s alaries (with the option of contributing an 
additional 5%).  The c ompany’s r ate of  c ontribution i s det ermined by  i ndependent ac tuaries.  The c ontributions ar e 
recognized as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions. 

Pension obligations 

 
The c ost of  pr oviding benef its i s det ermined us ing t he P rojected U nit C redit M ethod w ith i ndependent ac tuarial 
valuations being carried out each balance sheet date. Actuarial gains and losses that exceed 10% of the greater of the 
present value of the company’s obligation and the fair value of plan assets are amortised over the expected average 
remaining working l ives of the participating employees. Past service cost is recognised immediately to the extent that 
the benef its are al ready vested, and ot herwise is amortised on a s traight-line basis over the average period until the 
benefits become vested.  
 
The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet represents the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation as  adj usted f or unr ecognised ac tuarial gai ns and l osses and unr ecognized pas t s ervice c osts, and as  
reduced by  t he f air v alue of  pl an as sets. A ny as set r esulting f rom t his c alculation i s l imited t o t he unrecognised 
actuarial losses and past service cost, plus the present value of available refunds and reductions in future contributions 
to the plan. 
 
 
 
 



Page 35 
 
 

BERGER PAINTS JAMAICA LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2010 
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Employee benefits (Cont’d) 
 

Termination benef its are payable whenever an em ployee’s employment is terminated involuntarily before the normal 
retirement date or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits.  The company 
recognizes termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either terminate the employment of  c urrent 
employees according to a detailed formal plan without the possibility of withdrawal or to provide termination benefits as 
a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.  Benefits falling due more than twelve (12) months after 
the balance sheet date are discounted to present value. 

Termination obligations 

 

The company provides health benefits to qualifying employees upon retirement.  The entitlement to these benefits is 
usually based on t he employee remaining in service up t o retirement age and t he completion of  a m inimum service 
period.  T he ex pected c osts of  t hese benef its ar e ac crued over the period of employment, using an accounting 
methodology similar to that used for the defined benefit pension plan. 

Other post-retirement obligations 

 
Inventories 
 
These are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of finished goods comprises direct materials 
and labour plus an appropriate proportion of fixed and variable overhead expenses that have been incurred in bringing 
inventory to its present location and c ondition.  T he c ost of  w ork-in-progress c omprises di rect m aterials and an 
appropriate pr oportion of  l abour and ov erhead expenses ( fixed and v ariable) i n bringing the inventory to its present 
location and condition.  Cost i s calculated us ing the weighted average method.  N et realisable value represents the 
estimated selling price less all estimated costs to completion and costs necessary to make the sale. 
 
Revaluation reserve 
 
This represents revaluation surplus on property, plant and equipment net of annual deferred tax charges. 

 
Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognized when the company has a present obligation (legal or  c onstructive) as  a r esult of  a pas t 
event, it is probable that the company will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation. 
 
The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at the balance sheet date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.  Where a provision 
is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of 
those cash flows. 
 
When some or all of  the economic benef its required to settle a pr ovision are expected to be r ecovered f rom a t hird 
party, the receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the 
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.   
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Taxation 
 
Income tax expense represents the sum of tax currently payable and deferred tax. 
 

The t ax c urrently payable i s bas ed on t axable pr ofit f or t he year. Taxable pr ofit di ffers f rom t he net profit as 
reported in the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible 
in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The company’s liability for 
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted at the balance sheet date. 

Current tax 

 

Deferred tax is recognized on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial 
statements and the corresponding tax bases us ed i n t he c omputation of  t axable pr ofit, and i s ac counted f or 
using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits 
will be av ailable against which deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such assets and liabilities are 
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the i nitial r ecognition of  as sets and l iabilities i n a 
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. 

Deferred tax 

 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and r educed to the extent 
that it is no l onger probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be 
recovered. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which 
the liability is settled or the asset realized, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted by the 
balance sheet date, which rates are expected to apply in the period when the l iability is settled or the asset is 
realised.  The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow 
from the manner in which the company expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of 
its assets and liabilities. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the 
company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 
 

Current and def erred tax are recognized as an expense or income in profit or loss, except when they relate to 
items that are recognised outside profit or loss (whether in other comprehensive income or directly to equity), in 
which case the tax is also recognized outside profit or loss. 

Current and deferred tax for the period 

 
Financial instruments 

 
Financial instruments include transactions that give rise to both financial assets and financial liabilities.   

 
Financial assets of the company include any asset that is: 
 
(a) cash; 
(b) an equity instrument of another entity; 
(c) a contractual right: 
 

(i) to receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or 
(ii) to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are 

potentially favourable to the company. 
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Financial instruments (Cont’d) 
 
Financial liabilities of the company include any liability that is a contractual obligation: 
 

(i) to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or 
(ii) to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under  c onditions t hat ar e 

potentially unfavourable to the company. 
 

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the company’s balance sheet when the company becomes a 
party t o t he c ontractual pr ovisions of  t he i nstrument.  Financial as sets ar e der ecognized only when the 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire; or the c ompany transfers t he f inancial as set and 
substantially al l t he r isks and r ewards of  ow nership of  t he as set t o anot her ent ity.  I f the company neither 
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred 
asset, the company recognizes its retained interest in the assets and an associated liability for amounts it may 
have to pay.  If the company retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial 
asset, the company continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognizes a collateralized borrowing for 
the proceeds received.  Financial liabilities are derecognized when and only when, the company’s contractual 
obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expired. 

 
Financial lia bilities incurred and equi ty i nstruments i ssued by  t he c ompany ar e c lassified according to the 
substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and t he definitions of a f inancial l iability and an equity 
instrument.  An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the company 
after deduc ting al l of  i ts l iabilities.  E quity i nstruments issued by  t he c ompany ar e r ecorded at  t he pr oceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs. 

 
The fair values of  f inancial i nstruments ar e di scussed i n N ote 2 4.  Li sted bel ow ar e t he c ompany’s f inancial 
assets and liabilities and the specific accounting policies relating to each: 
 
Financial assets 
 
Financial assets are recognized and derecognized on trade date where the purchase or sale of the instrument is 
under a contract whose terms require delivery of the instrument within the timeframe established by the market 
concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs. 

 
The company’s financial assets are classified as ‘loans and receivables’ with the classification being based on 
the nature and purpose of the financial asset and is determined at the time of initial recognition. 

 
(a) Loans and receivables 

  
These have fixed or determinable payments and are not quoted in an active market.  Loans and receivables 
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment.  Interest income is 
recognized by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of 
interest would be immaterial. 
 

The ef fective i nterest m ethod i s a m ethod of  c alculating t he am ortised cost of a financial asset and of 
allocating i nterest i ncome ov er t he r elevant per iod.  T he ef fective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees or points paid or received that form an i ntegral 
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and ot her premium or discounts) through the expected 
life of the financial assets, or where appropriate, a shorter period. 

Effective interest method 

 
The c ompany’s por tfolio of  l oans and r eceivables c omprises amounts due f rom fellow s ubsidiaries (See 
Related Party below), trade and other receivables and cash and bank deposits. 
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Financial instruments (Cont’d) 
 
Financial assets (Cont’d) 
 
(a) Loans and receivables (Cont’d) 
 

(i) Trade and other receivables 
 

These receivables are measured at initial recognition at their fair values.  Interest is not charged on 
the outstanding balances as they are settled within a short period during which recognition of interest 
would be i mmaterial.  A ppropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognized in 
profit or  l oss w hen t here i s obj ective ev idence t hat t he as set i s i mpaired (that is, the outstanding 
amounts will not be paid in accordance with the original contract terms).   

 
(ii) Cash and cash equivalents 

 
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in 
hand, net of bank overdraft, and other highly liquid bank deposits held with financial institutions, with 
an or iginal maturity of  three months or  less f rom the date of  acquisition and ar e held to meet cash 
requirements rather than for investment purposes. 

 
(b) Impairment of financial assets 
 

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of  impairment at  each balance sheet date.  Financial assets 
are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a r esult of one or  more events that have occurred 
after initial recognition of the financial assets, the es timated f uture c ash f lows of  t he as set hav e been 
impacted. 
 
Objective evidence of impairment could include: 
 
- significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or 
- default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or 
- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation. 
 
For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be 
impaired individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on a c ollective basis.  O bjective evidence 
of impairment for a portfolio of receivables includes the company’s past experience of collecting payments, 
an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period of 30 days, as 
well as observable c hanges i n nat ional or  l ocal ec onomic c onditions t hat c orrelate w ith def ault on 
receivables. 
 
For f inancial as sets c arried a t amortised c ost, t he am ount of  i mpairment i s t he di fference bet ween t he 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original 
effective interest rate (See Effective interest method above). 

 
The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly with the exception of 
trade receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.  When a 
trade receivable i s deem ed unc ollectible, i t i s w ritten of f agai nst t he al lowance ac count.  S ubsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously provided for reduce the amount of the allowance account.  Changes in the 
carrying am ount of  t he al lowance ac count ar e r ecognized in profit or loss.  Recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited to income. 
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Financial instruments (Cont’d) 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
Financial liabilities ar e i nitially m easured at  f air value, net  of  t ransaction c osts ( where appl icable).  T hey ar e 
subsequently r e-measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense 
recognised on an ef fective yield basis except for short-term liabilities when the recognition of interest would be 
immaterial. 
 

The ef fective i nterest m ethod i s a m ethod of  c alculating t he am ortised c ost of  a f inancial l iability and of 
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a 
shorter period. 

Effective interest method 

 
The company’s financial liabilities comprise amounts due to immediate parent company, dividends payable and 
trade and other payables. 
 
(a) Related party 

 
A party is considered to be related if:  

 
(i) directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, one party is able to exercise control or 

significant influence over the other party;   
(ii) both parties are subject to common control or significant influence from the same source; 
(iii) the party is a member of key management personnel of the company or its parent, that is, those 

persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the 
company, including directors, officers and close members of the families of these individuals; or 

(iv) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the employees of the company. 
 

Intergroup transactions are recorded at pre-determined group rates and are settled quarterly.  Interest is not 
charged on these balances as they are settled in a short period. 

 
(b) Dividends payable 

 
These ar e r ecognized as  a l iability i n t he per iod i n w hich t hey ar e appr oved by the shareholders in the 
annual general meeting. 

 
(c) Trade and other payables 

 
Trade payables are initially measured at their fair values.  N o interest is accrued on outstanding balances 
as these are usually settled within a short period during which any interest charged would be immaterial. 

 
Revenue recognition 
 
Revenue i s m easured at  t he f air v alue of  t he c onsideration received or receivable.  R evenue i s r educed f or 
estimated customer returns, rebates, discounts and other similar allowances. 
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Revenue recognition (Cont’d) 
 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when all the following conditions are satisfied: 
Sale of goods 

 
• the company has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods; 
• the c ompany r etains nei ther c ontinuing m anagerial i nvolvement t o t he degr ee usually associated with 

ownership nor effective control over the goods sold; 
• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; 
• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the company; and 
• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. 

 

Interest income is accrued on a t ime bas is, by reference to the pr incipal outstanding and at  the effective interest 
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of 
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount. 

Interest revenue 

 
Foreign currencies 

 
The financial statements are presented in Jamaican dollars, the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which the company operates (its functional currency). 
 
In preparing the financial statements of the company, transactions in currencies other than the company’s functional 
currency, are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions.  At each balance sheet 
date, m onetary i tems denom inated i n f oreign currencies are re-translated at  t he r ates pr evailing on t he bal ance 
sheet date.  Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies  are re-translated 
at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined.  Non-monetary items that are measured in 
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not re-translated. 
 
Exchange differences are recognized in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.  
 
Leasing  
 
Leases are classified as  f inance l ease w henever t he t erms of  t he l ease t ransfer s ubstantially al l t he r isks and 
rewards of ownership to the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating leases.   
 

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where 
another s ystematic bas is i s m ore r epresentative of  t he t ime pat tern i n which ec onomic benef its f rom the leased 
asset are consumed.  C ontingent rentals, if any, arising under operating leases are recognized as an expense in 
the period in which they are incurred. 

The company as a lessee 

 
In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognized as a 
liability.  The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognized as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, 
except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from 
the leased asset are consumed. 

 
Research and development expenditure 
 
Expenditure on research activities is recognized as an expense in the period in which it is incurred. 
 
Borrowing costs 

 
Borrowing costs are recognised in the net profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 
 

In the application of the company’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, management is required to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not 
readily apparent from other sources.  T he es timates and as sociated as sumptions ar e bas ed on hi storical 
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.  
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoi ng basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period 
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
 
Critical judgements in applying accounting policies 
 
Management believes there are no judgements made that had a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the 
financial statements. 
 
Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a m aterial adjustment to the carrying amount of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year. 
 

As disclosed in Note 7, the company operates a defined benefit pension plan and provides post retirement medical 
benefits.  T he amounts shown in the balance sheet of an as set of approximately $130.86 million in respect of the 
defined benefit plan and a liability of approximately $87.3 million in respect of post retirement medical liabilities are 
subject to estimates in respect of periodic costs which costs would be dependent on future returns on assets, future 
discount rates, rates of salary increases and the inflation rate in respect of the pension plan, and rates of increases 
in medical costs for the post retirement medical plan.  Actuaries are contracted by the company in this regard. 

Post employment benefit 

 
The estimated return on pension assets assumption is determined by considering long-term historical returns, asset 
allocation and f uture estimates of long-term investment returns.  T he company estimates the appropriate discount 
rate annually which rate is used to determine the present value of estimated cash outflows expected to be required 
to settle the pension and post-retirement benefit obligation.   
 
To determine the appropriate discount rate in the absence of high quality corporate bonds, the interest rates on 
government bonds that have maturities approximating the related pension liabilities were considered.   
 
The expected increase in medical costs was determined by comparing the historical relationship of actual medical 
cost i ncreases w ith t he l ocal r ate of  i nflation.  C urrent m arket c onditions al so i mpact t he assumptions outlined 
above. 
 
In r espect of  t he pos t r etirement m edical benef its, a ±1% i ncrease/decrease i n t he m edical inflation assumption 
would result i n a r evised ac cumulated obl igation bef ore ac tuarial adj ustment of  approximately $163.6M and 
$115.4M respectively.  Note 7(g) details some history of experience adjustments in these post employment benefit 
plans. 
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6. LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES 
 

 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 
 $’000 $’000 
   
General Consumption Tax (GCT) (See below) 1,445 5,032 
Less current maturities included in Note 10 1,286 3,183 
   
     159 1,849 

 
GCT paid on purchases of certain i tems of  pr operty, pl ant and equi pment is r ecoverable i n t wenty-four m onthly 
instalments from the date of purchase. 

 
7. POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 

 
The c ompany oper ates a def ined benef it pens ion pl an and pr ovides pos t r etirement m edical benefits to its 
pensioners.   
 
Defined benefit pension plan 
 
This plan is funded by contributions from the employees and the company.  The company contributes to the plan at 
rates determined periodically by actuaries (currently 5.7% of pensionable salaries) and the employees contribute at a 
rate of 5% of pensionable salaries (with the option of contributing an additional 5%).  Pension benefits are determined 
on a prescribed benefits basis and are payable at a rate of 1⅔% of the employee’s average earnings over the three 
years prior to retirement times the employee’s number of years membership in the plan. 
 
Retiree Medical Plan 
 
The company bears the full cost of health care of employees after retirement. 
 
Valuation  
 
The most recent actuarial valuations of the two plans were carried out as at March 31, 2010 by Ravi Rambarran of 
Rambarran & Associates Limited (Consulting Actuaries), Fellow of the Institute of Actuaries.  The present value of the 
defined benefit obligation and the related current s ervice c osts and pas t s ervice c ost, w ere m easured us ing the 
projected unit credit method. 

 
(a) The principal assumptions used for the purpose of the actuarial valuations were as follows: 

 
 2010 2008 
 % % 
   
Gross discount rate 11.50 16.0 
Expected return on plan’s assets  9.00 14.5 
Expected rate of salary increases  8.00 12.5 
Future pension increases  2.25 6.0 
Medical claims growth 11.00 13.5 
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7. POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (Cont’d) 
 

(b) Amounts included in the balance sheet arising from the company’s obligation in respect of these plans are as 
follows: 

 
  Defined Benefit Pension Plan      Retiree Medical Plan  
 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
     
Present value of obligation (381,134) (315,953) (136,593) (77,462) 
Fair value of plan assets 511,998 427,373       -              -       
     
 130,864 111,420 (136,593) (77,462) 
Assets not recognized due to limitation      
resulting from uncertainty of obtaining     
economic benefits (  60,071) (   61,567)        -       -       

Unrecognized actuarial loss   60,071    61,567   49,284    5,975 
     
Net asset (liability) in balance sheet 130,864 111,420 (  87,309) (71,487) 

 
(c) Amounts recognized in the income statement in respect of the plans are as follows:  

 
  Defined Benefit Pension Plan      Retiree Medical Plan  
 15 months ended 12 months ended 15 months ended 12 months ended 
 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
     
Current service cost  13,460 11,774 4,286 3,088 
Interest costs 57,535 37,098 15,492 8,887 
Expected return on plan assets (78,255) (59,309)       -               -       
Change in unrecognized asset (  1,496) 12,909       -               -       
Recognised actuarial loss      991       428       -              -       
     
Total included in employee benefits     

(Income) Expense (   7,765)   2,900 19,778 11,975 
     
Actual return on plan assets 97,609   7,658       -             -       

 
(d) Movements in the net asset (liability) were as follows: 

 
  Defined Benefit Pension Plan      Retiree Medical Plan  
 15 months ended 12 months ended 15 months ended 12 months ended 
 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
     
Opening balance 111,420 105,131 (71,487) (62,466) 
Amount credited (charged) to income 7,765 (    2,900) (19,778) (11,975) 
Contributions by employer    11,679     9,189    3,956    2,954 
     
Closing balance 130,864 111,420 (87,309) (71,487) 
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7. POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (Cont’d) 
 

(e) Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation were as follows: 
 

  Defined Benefit Pension Plan      Retiree Medical Plan  
 15 months ended 12 months ended 15 months ended 12 months ended 
 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
     
Opening defined benefit obligation 315,953 317,287 77,462 68,360 
Service cost 13,460 11,774 4,286 3,088 
Interest cost 57,535 37,098 15,492 8,887 
Members’ contributions 12,379 10,082 -      -       
Benefits paid (  30,430) (   16,751) (    3,956) (  2,954) 
Actuarial loss (gain)   12,237 (   43,537)   43,309        81 
     
Closing defined benefit obligation 381,134 315,953 136,593 77,462 

 
 

(f) Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows: 
 

  Defined Benefit Pension Plan      Retiree Medical Plan  
 15 months ended 12 months ended 15 months ended 12 months ended 
 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
     
Opening fair value of plan assets 427,373 422,418        -              -       
Members’ contributions 12,379 10,082        -              -       
Employer’s contributions 11,679 9,189        -              -       
Expected return on plan assets 78,255 59,309        -              -       
Benefits paid (  30,430) (   16,751)        -              -       
Actuarial gain (loss)   12,742 (   56,874)       -             -       
     
Closing fair value of plan assets 511,998 427,373       -             -       
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7. POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (Cont’d) 
 

 (g) The major categories of plan assets and the expected rate of return at the balance sheet date for each category 
are as follows: 

 
   Defined Benefit Pension Plan     Retiree Medical Plan  
  

    March 31, 2010  
 
  December 31, 2008  

March 31, 
     2010  

December 31, 
     2008  

 Fair Value of Expected Fair Value of Expected   
   Plan Asset    Return    Plan Asset    Return    
 $’000 % $’000 % $’000 $’000 
       
Equity fund 125,097  104,118         -              -       
Fixed income fund 183,044  158,124         -              -       
Mortgage and real estate fund 125,280  118,361         -              -       
Foreign currency fund 70,553  42,253         -              -       
Money market fund 6,480  2,904    
Other assets      1,544      1,613        -             -       
       
Closing fair value of plan assets/       
weighted average expected return 511,998 9.0 427,373 14.5       -             -       

 
The overall expected rate of return is a weighted average of the expected return of the various categories of plan 
assets held.  T he di rectors’ as sessment of  t he ex pected r eturn i s bas ed on hi storical t rends and anal ysts’ 
predictions of the market for the assets in the next twelve months. 
 
The history of experience adjustments is as follows: 

 
  Defined Benefit Pension Plan  

 March 31, 
      2010  

December 31,  
        2008  

December 31, 
         2007  

December 31, 
        2006  

December 31, 
          2005  

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
      
Present value of defined benefit  
  obligation 

 
(381,134) 

 
(315,953) 

 
(317,287) 

 
(260,699) 

 
(228,286) 

Fair value of plan assets 511,998 427,373 422,418 380,831 325,427 
      
Fund surplus 130,864 111,420 105,131 120,132 97,141 
      
Experience adjustments on plan liabilities (  12,237) 43,537 (  38,277) 1,595 (31,805) 
      
Experience adjustments on plan assets 12,742 (   56,874) (       679) 9,094 9,392 

 
   Retiree Medical  Plan  
 March 31, 

      2010  
December 31,  
        2008  

December 31, 
         2007  

December 31, 
        2006  

December 31, 
          2005  

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
      
Present value of defined benefit      
obligation (136,593) (  77,462) (68,360) (64,630) (47,578) 

Fair value of assets        -               -               -             -             -      
      
Fund deficit (136,593) (  77,462) (68,360) (64,630) (47,578) 
      
Experience adjustments on plan liabilities (   43,309) (         81) 4,413 (11,029) 8,623 
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PLOYMENT BENEFITS (Cont’d) 

t’d) 

ct of 1% Increase/Decrease in the Medica
     March 31, 2010    December 31, 2008  
 Inflation  Inflation  Inflation  Inflation  
 @ 12.0% @10.0% @ 14.5% @12.5% 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
     

ised service cost  5,469 3,388 3,869 2,488 
ised interest cost  18,052 13,429 10,354 7,702 
ised accumulated benefit obligation  163,641 115,389 80,614 60,769 

company expects to make a contribution of $20.005 million (2008: $9.702 million) to the defined benefit plans 
g the next financial year. 

ded in the holdings of plan assets is an i nvestment in the Sagicor Pooled Pension Investment Funds which 
s 10.4% (2008:10.4%) of the company’s issued shares. 

RIES 
March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 

$’000 $’000 
  

d goods 101,009 106,259 
-progress 8,425 4,660 
terials and supplies 99,158 160,024 

in-transit     1,360    66,069 
  

209,952 337,012 

es stated above are net of  pr ovision f or obs olescence am ounting t o appr oximately $ 42.12 million ( 2008: 
illion). 

 of inventories recognized as an expense during the period, was $864.80 million (2008:  $775.87 million).  The 
ventories recognized as an expense includes $29.46 million (2008:  $2.14 million) in respect of write-downs of 
 to net realizable value, and has been reduced by $8.34 million (2008: $10.21 million) in respect of the 
 of  s uch w rite-down.  P revious w rite-downs hav e been r eversed as  a r esult of  t he re-working of certain 
 into the production process. 
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9. BALANCES/TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (Cont’d) 
 

Loans to related parties 
 

 15 months ended 12 months ended 
 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 
 $’000 $’000 
   
Key management personnel 321 300 

 
These comprise short-term loans.  No interest is charged on these amounts. 

 
Compensation of key management personnel 
 
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the period was as follows: 

  
 15 months ended 12 months ended 
 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 
 $’000 $’000 
   
Short-term benefits 36,622 43,043 
Post-employment benefits   1,179   1,990 
   
 37,801 45,033 

 
The r emuneration of  di rectors and k ey ex ecutives i s det ermined by  t he di rectors of  t he parent company having 
regard to the performance of individuals and prevailing macro-economic factors. 
 

10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
  

 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 
 $’000 $’000 
   
Trade receivables (net of provisions for rebates to customers of   

 $18.812 million (2008:  $24.2 million)) 256,382 342,617 
Less allowance for doubtful debts   62,722    64,313 
   
 193,660 278,304 
Other receivables and prepayments (net of an allowance for    

doubtful debts of $3.83 million (2008:  $3.170 million) 25,753 31,588 
Current portion of long-term receivables (Note 6)     1,286      3,183 
   

 220,699 313,075 
 

The average credit period on sale of goods is 30 days.  The company has provided fully for all receivables over one 
year because historical experience is such that receivables that are past due bey ond this per iod are generally not  
recoverable.  Trade receivables between 30 days and 1 year are provided for based on estimated irrecoverable 
amounts from the sale of goods, determined by reference to past default experience. 
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10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d) 

 
Before ac cepting any  new  c ustomer, t he c ompany us es a credit bureau t o as sess t he pot ential c ustomer’s c redit 
quality and def ines credit l imits by customer.  Li mits at tributed to customers are reviewed annually.  Approximately 
98% of the trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have the best credit scoring attributable under the 
external credit bureau assessment as well as the internal assessment system used by the company. Of the t rade 
receivables balance at the end of the year, $47.15 million (2008:  $66.51 million) (amount within the approved credit 
limit) is due f rom t he c ompany’s l argest customer (See al so N ote 24( d)).  T here ar e no ot her c ustomers w ho 
represent more than 5% of the total balance of trade receivables. 
 
Included in the company’s trade receivable bal ance ar e debt ors w ith a c arrying am ount of  $ 121.43 million ( 2008: 
$111.73 million) which is past due at  the reporting date for which the company has not  provided as  there has  not  
been a significant change in credit qual ity of  t he debt ors and t he am ounts ar e s till c onsidered r ecoverable.  T he 
company does not hold any collateral over these balances.  The average age of these receivables is 75 days (2008: 
66 days). 
 
Ageing of past due but not impaired 
 

 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 
 $’000 $’000 
   

 30 – 90 days 90,600 85,683 
 91 – 180 days 16,460 13,416 
 181 – 270 days 11,689 11,073 
 271 – 360 days     2,678     1,558 

   
 121,427 111,730 

 
Movement in allowance for doubtful debts 
 

   Trade receivables    Other receivables  
 15 months ended 12 months ended 15 months ended 12 months ended 
 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

     
Opening balance 64,313 45,138 3,170 3,358 
Impairment losses recognized  
  on receivables 

 
15,463 

 
23,045 

 
660 

 
714 

Amounts written-off as uncollectible (12,194) -            -      (    380) 
Amounts recovered during the year (  4,860) (   3,870)      -      (    522) 

     
Closing balance 62,722 64,313 3,830 3,170 

 
In determining the r ecoverability of  a r eceivable, t he c ompany c onsiders any  c hange i n t he c redit qual ity of  t he 
receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date.  The directors believe that, at balance 
sheet date, there is no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts. 
 
Ageing of impaired trade receivables 
 

 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 
 $’000 $’000 
   

181 – 360 days 1,395 -       
≥ 365 days 61,327 64,313 

   
 62,722 64,313 
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11. CASH RESOURCES 
 

(a) Cash and bank balances 
 

These include interest bearing accounts totalling $52,558,937 (2008: $26,658,758) including foreign currency 
deposits amounting to $32,287,841 (2008: $26,589,088), the Jamaican dollar equivalent of US$362,446 (2008: 
$185,719) and £343 (2008: £525).  Interest on foreign currency deposits are at rates of 0.8% and 1.6% per 
annum (2008: 1.75% and 2.4%) and local currency deposits are at a rate of 6.85% (2008: 3.25%) per annum.   

 
(b) Bank overdraft 

   March 31, 
      2010  

December 31, 
        2008  

   $’000 $’000 
     
Secured at amortised cost (Note 11(b)(i))         -       46,791 

 
(i) The company has a credit facility (overdraft) with a commercial bank to a limit of $99.75 million (2008: $100 

million) at a rate of 21.375% (2008: 20.625%) per annum.  This facility is unsecured. 
 

As at March 31, 2010, the overdraft facility was not being utilized. 
 
12. SHARE CAPITAL 
 

 March 31,  December 31, March 31,  December 31, 
         2010         2008          2010          2008  
 No. of shares No. of shares $’000 $’000 
     
Authorised: No par value ordinary shares 214,322,393 214,322,393   
Issued and fully paid:  214,322,393 214,322,393 141,793 141,793 
     
Stated capital   141,793 141,793 

 
There were no movements in share capital during the period. 
 
The company has one class of ordinary shares which carry one vote per share and no right to fixed income. 
 

13. REVALUATION RESERVES 
 

 Properties 
 Revaluation 
     Reserve  
 $’000 

  
Balance at January 1, 2008 41,866 
Adjustments to deferred tax liability in respect of revalued buildings (Notes 14, 21(b))      200 
  
Balance at December 31, 2008 42,066 
Adjustments to deferred tax liability in respect of revalued buildings (Notes 14, 21(b))      200 
  
Balance at March 31, 2010 42,266 

 
The properties revaluation reserve arose on the revaluation of land and buildings.  Where revalued land and buildings 
are sold, the portion of the properties revaluation reserve that relates to that asset, and is effectively realized, is 
transferred directly to revenue reserve. 
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14. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (ASSETS) 
 

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset in accordance with the company’s accounting policy.  The 
following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for balance sheet purposes. 

 
 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 
 $’000 $’000 

   
Deferred tax liabilities 53,917 50,983 
Deferred tax assets (35,973) (27,356) 
   
 17,944 23,627 

 
The movement during the period in the company’s deferred tax position was as follows: 
 

 15 months ended 12 months ended  
  March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 

 $’000 $’000 
   
Opening balance 23,627 27,108 
Credit to income for the period (Note 21(a)) (  5,483) (  3,281) 
Credit to other comprehensive income for the period 
  (Notes 13, 21(b)) 

 
(     200) 

 
(     200) 

   
Closing balance 17,944 23,627 

 
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the company and the movements 
thereon, during the current and prior periods: 

 
Deferred tax liabilities 

    Excess  
    Value  
 Unrealised   Over Tax  
 Foreign  Revaluation Post- Allowances  
 Exchange of Employment on Motor  
       Gains  Properties Benefits Asset    Vehicles  Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

      
Balance, January 1, 2008       -       7,713 35,044 6,871 49,628 
Charge (credit) to income for the year       -       -     2,096 (    541) 1,555 
Credit to other comprehensive income 
   for the year  

 
      -       

 
(    200) 

 
      -       

 
     -      

 
(     200) 

      
Balance, December 31, 2008  7,513 37,140 6,330 50,983 
Charge (credit) to income for the period 104 -      6,482 (  3,452) 3,134 
Credit to other comprehensive income 
   for the period 

 
      -       

 
(   200) 

 
      -       

 
     -      

 
(     200) 

      
Balance, March 31, 2010     104 7,313 43,622 2,878 53,917 
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14. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (ASSETS) (Cont’d) 
 

Deferred tax assets 
   Depreciation   
  Post Charges in Unrealised  
  Employment Excess of Foreign  
 Accrued Benefits Capital Exchange  

 Vacation Obligation Allowances Losses Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
      
Balance, January 1, 2008 -     20,822 1,677   21 22,520  
Credit to income for the year        -        3,007    131 1,698   4,836 
      
Balance, December 31, 2008 -      23,829 1,808   1,719 27,356  
Credit (Charge) to income for  
  the period 

 
6,298 

 
   5,274 

 
(1,236) 

 
(1,719) 

 
   8,617 

      
Balance, March 31, 2010 6,298 29,103   572       -      35,973 

 
15. PROVISIONS 
 

    Employee Benefits  
 15 months ended 12 months ended  
 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 
 $’000 $’000 
   
Opening balance 25,316 23,416 
Utilised during the period  (19,173) (   3,096) 
Charged to income for the      period 12,751   4,996 
   
Closing balance 18,894 25,316 

 
The provision for employees’ benefits represents annual leave entitlements accrued. 

 
16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 

 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 
 $’000 $’000 
   
Trade payables 96,208 265,805 
Other payables and accruals   90,966 107,224 
   
 187,174 373,029 

 
The credit period on purchases of goods from the company’s major suppliers range from 30 - 60 days.  The company 
has financial risk management procedures in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit timeframe. 
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17.  DIVIDENDS 
 

In respect of the current period: 
 
i) an interim dividend of 95¢ per share totalling $20.361 million was paid to shareholders on the company’s 

register of members at the close of business on February 12, 2010. 
 
ii) The directors propose a final dividend of $0.187¢ per share totalling $40.078 million to be pai d on J uly 

26, 2010, to shareholders on the company’s register of members at the close of business July 9, 2010. 
 
In respect of 2008, a final dividend 21¢ per share totalling $45.008 million was approved at the company’s 
Annual G eneral M eeting and pai d t o s hareholders on t he c ompany’s r egister of  m embers at  t he c lose of 
business on May 30, 2008. 
 
The dividends are subject to approval by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. 

 
18. SALES (NET OF DISCOUNTS AND REBATES) 
 

The following are entity-wide disclosures: 
 

a) Products 
 

 15 months ended 12 months ended  
 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 
 $’000 $’000 
   
Decorative/architectural products   1,748,048 1,449,125 
Industrial products  26,472 11,819 
Vehicle refinish       54,735      66,070 
   
 1,829,255 1,527,014 

 
b) Geographical areas 

 
 15 months ended 12 months ended  
 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 
 $’000 $’000 
   
Domestic sales 1,773,458 1,489,798 
Export sales      55,797      37,216 
   
 1,829,255 1,527,014 

 
c) Major customers 

 
Of the sales for the period, 14% (2008: 14%) was attributable to the company’s largest customer.  There 
were no other customers who represented 10% or more of the company’s revenue. 
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19. OPERATING PROFIT 
 

Operating profit is stated after taking into account the following: 
 

 15 months ended 12 months ended  
 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 
 $’000 $’000 
   
Operating expenses   
Raw materials and consumables used 893,577 788,189 
Changes in inventories of finished goods and work-in-progress (net) 1,485 (     14,458) 
Manufacturing expenses 80,446 61,006 
Depreciation 38,968 27,626 
Employee benefits expense 404,916 347,871 
Other operating expenses     314,330    293,124 
   
Total  1,733,722 1,503,358 
   
Other operating income   
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment 2,263 4,130 
Miscellaneous        2,744        1,320 
   
Total        5,007        5,450 

 
Other operating expenses include charges in respect of inventory obsolescence of $29.46 million (2008:  $2.14 
million). 
 

20. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 
 

The profit before taxation is stated after taking into account the following: 
 

 15 months ended 12 months ended  
 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 
 $’000 $’000 

(a) Revenue (expenses) on financial assets at amortised cost   
   

Revenue:   
Interest – bank deposits      728     292 

   
Expenses:    
Interest – overdraft 5,852 7,919 
Allowance for doubtful debt on sale of goods   
net of recoveries of $4,860,000 (2008: $3,870,000) 10,603 19,175 
Allowance for doubtful debt on other receivables 660 192 

 
(b) Net loss on financial assets at amortised costs 
 

Net foreign exchange loss 19,625 13,824 
 

(c) Other expenses 
 

Directors’ emoluments   
Fees 1,250 1,000 
Management 14,582 11,969 

Audit fees 3,650 3,450 
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21. TAXATION 
 

(a) Recognised in profit and loss 
 

(i) The total charge for the period comprises: 
 15 months ended 12 months ended  
 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 
 $’000 $’000 
   

Current tax 26,800 9,200 
Deferred tax adjustment (Note 14)  (  5,483) (  3,281) 

   
 21,317   5,919 

 
(ii) The charge for the period is reconciled to the profit as per the profit and loss account as follows: 

 
 15 months ended 12 months ended  
 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 
 $’000 $’000 
   

Profit before tax  95,416 21,479 
   

Tax at the domestic income tax rate of  33⅓% 31,805 7,160 
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining   
   taxable profit 

 
62 

 
69 

Tax effect of expenses that are deductible for tax purposes only (10,781) (   1,392) 
Other       231         82 

   
Tax expense for the year 21,317   5,919 

 
The tax rate used for the reconciliations above is the company tax rate of 33  ⅓% payable by corporate 
entities in Jamaica on taxable profits under tax laws. 

 
(b) Recognised directly in equity  
 

 15 months ended 12 months ended  
 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 
 $’000 $’000 
   

Revaluation of properties (Note 13)      200        200 
 

(c) Current tax assets and liabilities 
 

 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 
 $’000 $’000 
   
Current tax assets   
Withholding tax recoverable (     188) (     72) 
   
Current tax liabilities    
Income tax payable (recoverable)  17,753 (4,805) 
   
Tax payable (recoverable)  17,565 (4,877) 
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22. EARNINGS PER STOCK UNIT 
 

The calculation of earnings per stock unit is based on the profit after taxation of $74.099 million (2008: $15.560 
million) and the number of stock units in issue during the period of 214,322,393 units.   

 
23. COMMITMENTS 
 

(a) Capital commitment 
 

Capital ex penditure aut horised but  not  c ontracted f or at  March 31, 2 010 am ounted t o appr oximately 
$10.210 million (2008:  $12 .892 million).   These expenditures are mainly in respect of the acquisition of 
equipment and building alteration. 

 
(b) Operating lease arrangements 
 

Operating lease payments r epresent r entals pay able by  t he c ompany f or c ertain of  i ts of fice l ocations.  
Leases are negotiated for an av erage term of  three to fi ve years and r entals are f ixed for an av erage of  
three to five years. 

 
 15 months ended 12 months ended  
 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 
 $’000 $’000 
   
Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognized as an    
  expense in the period 9,988   6,885 

 
At t he bal ance s heet dat e, t he c ompany has  outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating 
leases, which fall due as follows: 

 
 15 months ended 12 months ended  
 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 
 $’000 $’000 
   
Within one year 4,805 6,248 
In the second to fifth years inclusive   8,355 1,257 
   
 13,160 7,505 

 
24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT 
 

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the 
basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of 
financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in Note 3 to the financial statements. 
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24 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (Cont’d) 

 
Categories of financial instruments 

 
The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the balance sheet date: 

 
 March 31, 2010 December 31, 2008 
 $’000 $’000 
   

Financial Assets   
Loans and receivables (including cash and bank balances) –  
at amortised cost 

  

-  Due from fellow subsidiaries  2,074 6,039 
-  Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments and long-term  
     receivables) 

 
214,087 

 
309,690 

-   Cash and bank balances    95,077   26,591 
   
 311,238 342,320 
   
Financial Liabilities (at amortised cost)   
- Due to immediate parent company 8,230 25,086 
- Dividends payable 12,021 10,898 
- Trade and other payables (excluding accruals) 164,619 361,203 
- Bank overdraft        -           46,791 
   
 184,870 443,978 

 
Financial risk management policies and objectives 
 
By its nature, the company’s activities involve the use of financial instruments. 
 
The company has exposure to the following risks from its use of its financial instruments: market risk (including 
currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 
 
Financial risk management objectives 
 
The company’s activities involve the analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk 
or combination of risks.  The company’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and 
return and minimize potential adverse effects on the company’s financial performance. 
 
The company has  documented f inancial r isk management pol icies which are directed by i ts parent company.  
These pol icies s et out  t he c ompany’s ov erall bus iness s trategies and i ts r isk m anagement phi losophy.  T he 
financial risk management programme seeks to minimize potential adverse effects of financial performance of 
the company.  T he Board of  D irectors, directed by the parent company, provides written pr inciples for overall 
financial risk m anagement and w ritten pol icies c overing s pecific ar eas, s uch as  m arket r isk, c redit r isk and 
liquidity risk. Periodic reviews are undertaken to ensure that the group’s policy guidelines are complied with.  
 
There has been no change during the year to the company’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in 
which it manages and measures the risk.   
 
The company does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments. 
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24 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (Cont’d) 

 
Financial risk management policies and objectives (Cont’d) 
 
Exposures are measured using sensitivity analyses indicated below. 

 
(a) Market risk 
 

Market risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market 
prices whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual security or its issuer or factors 
affecting all securities traded in the market.  Except in respect of foreign currencies, as disclosed in Note 24 
(b) below and interest rates, as disclosed in Note 24(c) below, the company has no exposure to market risk. 

 
(b) Foreign exchange risk 
 

The c ompany undertakes certain transactions denominated in currencies other than the Jamaican dollar 
resulting in exposures to exchange rate fluctuations. 
 
Currency risk is the r isk t hat t he v alue of  a f inancial i nstrument w ill f luctuate due t o c hanges i n f oreign 
exchange rates.   
 
Management of foreign exchange risk 
Management c onsistently reviews the c ompany’s ex posure i n t his r egard by constant monitoring of 
international foreign exchange markets and factors influencing currency movements including daily analysis 
of its demand for foreign currency to meet supplier payments and positioning its foreign currency bank 
account holdings accordingly. 
 
The carrying amounts of foreign currency denominated monetary assets and m onetary l iabilities arising in 
the ordinary course of business at the reporting date are as follows: 

  
       Liabilities    Assets      Net Liabilities (Assets)  
 March 31, 

      2010  
December 31,  
       2008  

March 31,  
     2010  

December 31,  
       2008  

March 31,  
     2010  

December 31,  
       2008  

 J$'000 J$'000 J$'000 J$'000 J$'000 J$'000 
       
US dollars 100,448 247,282 62,444 51,320 38,004 195,962 
Pound (£) 8 300 46 60 (         38) 240 

 
Foreign currency sensitivity 

 
The following table details the sensitivity to a 2% revaluation and 10% devaluation (2008: 10% revaluation 
and devaluation) in the Jamaican dollar against the relevant foreign currencies.  The above sensitivity rates 
are used when reporting foreign currency risk i nternally t o k ey m anagement per sonnel and r epresents 
management’s assessment of  t he pos sible c hange i n f oreign ex change r ates.  The s ensitivity anal ysis 
includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the 
balance sheet date for the above change in foreign currency rates.   

 
If the Jamaican dollar strengthens or weakens by 2% or 10% respectively (2008: 10%) against the relevant 
foreign currency, profit or loss will decrease or increase by: 

 
US Dollar Impact    
    Revaluation      Devaluation  Revaluation/ Devaluation 

    March 31, 2010    March 31,  2010      December 31, 2008  
 % J$’000 % J$’000 % J$’000 

       
Profit or loss 2 760 10 3,800 10 19,596 
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24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (Cont’d) 
 

Financial risk management policies and objectives (Cont’d) 
 
(b) Foreign exchange risk (Cont’d) 
 

Foreign currency sensitivity (Cont’d) 
 

Pound (£) Impact    
    Revaluation      Devaluation  Revaluation/ Devaluation 

    March 31, 2010    March 31,  2010      December 31, 2008  
 % J$’000 % J$’000 % J$’000 

       
Profit or loss 2 1 10 3 10 24 

 
 

This is mainly attributable to the exposure outstanding on bank balances, receivables and payables in the 
respective foreign currency at balance sheet date. 

 
 
The c ompany’s s ensitivity to f oreign c urrency has  decreased during the current year mainly due to the 
decline in US dol lar denominated t rade payables which was of fset by increasing US$ denominated bank 
balances. 
 
In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk 
as the balance sheet date exposure does not reflect the exposure during the period. US dollar denominated 
sales and liabilities are seasonal, fluctuating throughout the period. 
 

(c) Interest rate risk management 
 

Interest rate risk is the potential that the value of  a f inancial i nstrument w ill f luctuate due t o c hanges i n 
market interest rates as a result of cash flow or fair value interest rate risk.  Financial instruments subject to 
fixed interest rates are exposed to fair value interest rate risk while those subject to floating interest rates 
are exposed to cash flow risk.   

 
The company’s exposure to interest rates on financial assets and financial liabilities are detailed in the 
liquidity risk management section at Note 24 (e) below. 
 
Management of interest rate risk 
The company manages its interest r ate r isk by  m onitoring t he m ovements i n t he m arket i nterest r ates 
closely as well as using gap analysis. 

 
Interest rate sensitivity 
The s ensitivity anal yses bel ow hav e been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments at the bal ance s heet dat e. A 50 bas is poi nt i ncrease or  dec rease i s us ed w hen 
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s 
assessment of the possible change in interest rates. 
 
If i nterest rates had been 50 bas is points higher or  lower and al l other variables were held constant, the 
company’s pr ofit f or t he period would decrease/increase by  $ 0.263 million (2008: decrease/increase by 
$0.1 million).  This is mainly attributable to the company’s exposure to interest rate risk on its bank deposits 
and its bank overdraft facility. 
 
The c ompany’s s ensitivity t o i nterest r ates has  increased dur ing t he c urrent per iod m ainly due to the 
increased bank deposit holdings. 
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24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (Cont’d) 
 

Financial risk management policies and objectives (Cont’d) 
 

(d) Credit risk management 
 

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial 
loss to the company.  
 
Financial as sets t hat pot entially s ubject t he company to concentration of credit risk consist principally of 
cash, cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and amounts due from related parties.  The maximum 
exposure to credit risk is the amount of approximately $311.2 million (2008: $342.3 million) disclosed under 
‘categories of  f inancial instruments’ above and t he company holds no c ollateral in this regard. Generally, 
the company manages its credit risk by screening its customers, establishing credit limits and the rigorous 
follow-up of receivables.   
 

  Cash and bank deposits 
The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are major banks with high credit ratings.  
The carrying amount of cash and bank balances (excluding cash on hand) totalling $94.648 million (2008: 
$26.815 m illion) at balance s heet dat e represents t he c ompany’s m aximum ex posure t o t his class o f 
financial assets.  
 
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries 
The directors believe that the credit risks associated with this financial instrument are minimal.  The carrying 
amount of  t he abov e bal ance t otalling $2.074 million ( 2008: $6. 039 m illion) at balance s heet dat e 
represents the company’s maximum exposure to this class of financial assets. 
 
Trade and other receivables 
The company has adopted a policy of dealing with creditworthy counterparties as a means of mitigating the 
risk of financial loss from defaults. The company’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are 
continuously monitored and the aggr egate value of  t ransactions c oncluded i s s pread am ongst appr oved 
counterparties. Credit exposure is controlled by counterparty limits that are reviewed and approved by 
management on an annual basis. Further, trade receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread 
across the retail and c onstruction sectors and as  such, the company does not  have significant credit risk 
exposure to any single counterparty, except in respect of one retail entity whose outstanding balance (within 
the approved credit limit) amounts to approximately 18% (2008: 19%) of trade receivables (see Note 10). 
Ongoing c redit evaluation i s per formed on t he f inancial condition of trade receivables. The book value of  
receivables is stated after allowance for likely losses estimated by the company’s management based on 
prior experience and their assessment of the current economic environment.   
 
The carrying amount of financial assets in respect of trade receivables totalling $193.7 million (2008: $278.3 
million) and ot her r eceivables t otalling $ 25.8 million (2008: $31. 6 m illion) at  y ear end w hich i s net of 
impairment of approximately $62.7 million and $3.8 million respectively (2008: $64.3 million and $3.2 million 
respectively), represents the company’s maximum exposure to this class of financial asset. 

 
(e) Liquidity risk management 

 
Liquidity risk, also referred to as funding risk, is the risk that the company will encounter difficulty in raising 
funds to meet commitments associated with financial instruments.  Liquidity risk may result from an inability 
to sell a financial asset quickly at, or close to, its fair value. Prudent liquidity risk management implies 
maintaining s ufficient c ash and c ash equi valents, and t he av ailability of  f unding t hrough an adequat e 
amount of  c ommitted f acilities.  D ue t o t he nat ure of  t he under lying bus iness, t he m anagement of  the 
company maintains an adequate amount of its financial assets in liquid form to meet contractual obligations 
and other recurring payments.   
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24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (Cont’d) 
 

Financial risk management policies and objectives (Cont’d) 
 

(e) Liquidity risk management (Cont’d) 
 

Liquidity and interest risk analyses in respect of non-derivative financial liabilities and non-derivative 
financial assets 
 
Non-derivative financial liabilities 
 
The following tables detail t he c ompany’s r emaining c ontractual m aturity f or non -derivative f inancial 
liabilities.  The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities 
based on t he ear liest date on w hich the group and c ompany can be r equired to pay.  T he table includes 
both interest and principal cash flows.  

 
  Weighted   
 Average On Demand  
 Effective or Within  
 Interest Rate       1 Year     Total 

 % $’000 $’000 
2010    
Non-interest bearing -        184,870 184,870 
Interest bearing - -       -       
    
2008    
Non-interest bearing -        397,187 397,187 
Interest bearing 20.625 46,791 46,791 

 
Non-derivative financial assets 
 
The following table details the c ompany’s ex pected m aturity f or i ts non -derivative f inancial as sets. T he 
tables below have been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial assets 
including interest that will be ear ned on t hose assets except where the company anticipates that the cash 
flow will occur in a different period. 

 
 Weighted   
 Average On Demand  
 Effective or Within  
 Interest Rate       1 Year     Total 

 % $’000 $’000 
2010    
Non-interest bearing - 258,679 258,679 
Interest bearing 3.6 52,559 52,559 
    
2008    
Non-interest bearing - 315,661 315,661 
Interest bearing 2.4 26,659 26,659 
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24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (Cont’d) 
 

Financial risk management policies and objectives (Cont’d) 
 

(f) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities 
 

Fair v alue i s t he am ount f or w hich an as set c ould be ex changed, or  a l iability s ettled, bet ween 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.  A market price, where an active market (such 
as a r ecognized s tock exchange) ex ists, i s t he bes t ev idence of the fair value of a financial instrument.  
Where market prices are not available for the financial assets and l iabilities of the company, fair values in 
the f inancial s tatements hav e been pr esented us ing v arious es timation techniques based on market 
conditions ex isting at  bal ance s heet dat e. G enerally, j udgement i s nec essarily r equired i n i nterpreting 
market data to develop estimates of fair value.  Accordingly, the estimates presented in these financial 
statements are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that the company would realise in a current market 
exchange. 
 
The following methods and as sumptions have been us ed in determining the fair values of financial assets 
and financial liabilities: 
 
• The amounts included in the financial statements for cash and bank balances, trade and other 

receivables, t rade and ot her payables, due t o i mmediate par ent c ompany and due f rom f ellow 
subsidiaries reflect the approximate fair values because of the short-term maturity of these instruments. 
 

Capital risk management policies and objectives 
 
The company manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising 
the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the equity balance. 
 
The Board monitors the return on capital (net income divided by shareholder’s equity).  
 
The company’s Board of Directors reviews the capital structure on a semi-annual basis. As a part of this review, 
the B oard of  D irectors c onsiders t he c ost of  c apital and t he associated risks.  A dditionally, bas ed on 
recommendations of the Board of D irectors, t he c ompany ba lances its ov erall c apital s tructure t hrough t he 
payment of dividends.  

 
The company’s overall strategy as directed by its parent remains unchanged from year ended 2008. 
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failing 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of 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Company 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